1963

Katherine Irene Dearden v. Albert Errol Dearden : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The case on appeal herein involves a divorce action wherein plaintiff sought a decree granting her a divorce from defendant and also awarding her the care, custody, and control of the minor child of the parties, subject to the right of reasonable visitation privileges of defendant, plus alimony and child support in a designated amount. Defendant filed a Counterclaim against plaintiff seeking against plaintiff the same relief she sought against him.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Fifth Judicial District Court (Judge C. Nelson Day) granted a decree of divorce in favor of defendant and

against plaintiff and awarding defendant the care, custody and control of the minor child of the parties with the right of reasonable visitation in plaintiff for the reason and on the grounds that the plaintiff is not a fit and proper person to have custody of the child and because it is in the best interests of the minor child that such a judgment be decreed.

RELIEF SOUGHT

The relief sought in this appeal is as follows:

A. Reversal of the lower Court's decision.

B. Reversal in part of the lower Court's decision and an Order awarding plaintiff the care, custody and control of the minor child of the parties, with the right of reasonable visitation of defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, Katherine Irene Dearden, age 22 years (T-6), and defendant, Albert Erroll Dearden, age 24 years (T-4) were married on May 26, 1956, at Sugarville, Millard County, State of Utah (T-7). One child has been born as issue of said marriage, viz. a girl, Julie Kay Dearden, age 2 years, having been born on December 24, 1960 (T-7). At the time of the trial, plaintiff and the minor child of the parties were living separate and apart from defendant at 64 "F" Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. Plaintiff was employed as a waitress at the Post House Cafe in Salt Lake City. Defendant, who is a truck driver

for Wycoff Company (T-49), was residing with his parents in Fillmore, Utah. Prior to their separation in October, 1962, plaintiff and defendant lived together with their minor child in Fillmore, Utah.

During the course of the marriage, plaintiff worked in order to obtain income for family purposes. Most of this employment was as a waitress in Fillmore, Utah (T-11, 12, 13, 14). Plaintiff claims that she worked at the suggestion and with the acquiescence of defendant and because he thought it was best inasmuch as they were getting further in debt (T-32), and defendant admits that he had no objection to her working (T-70). All of the income acquired by plaintiff was used for payment of household expenses.

In October of 1962, plaintiff and defendant separated, plaintiff going to Delta, Utah, and then to Salt Lake City to seek employment to care for herself and her little girl. Defendant remained in Fillmore.

In November, 1962, plaintiff filed an action in the District Court of Millard County seeking a divorce from defendant on the grounds of mental cruelty and also seeking to have the permanent custody of the minor child awarded to her, subject to the right of reasonable visitation of defendant. Defendant Counterclaimed for divorce and custody of the minor child. The matter was tried before the Honorable C. Nelson Day in the District Court of Millard County on April 10, 1963, and after taking the matter under advisement, Judge Day granted

defendant a decree of divorce against plaintiff and awarded defendant the custody of the minor child, subject to the right of reasonable visitation of plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF A DECREE OF DIVORCE AGAINST DEFENDANT AND IN GRANTING DEFENDANT A DECREE OF DIVORCE AGAINST PLAINTIFF.

The case before the Court at this time is a divorce action involving a dispute between plaintiff and defendant over the permanent custody of Julie Kay Dearden, their minor daughter, aged 2 years. Although it is true in divorce cases, that the Supreme Court will not disturb the trial Court's judgment in the decision of property, awards of alimony, and child support unless it appears to be unjust and inequitable, *Tsoufakis v. Tsoufakis*, Utah, 382, P. 2d 412 (1963), yet the Court may and will review the facts as well as the law on appeal in child custody controversies between divorced parents. *Sampsell v. Holt*, 115 Utah 73, 202 P. 2d 550 (1949), and plaintiff prays the Court to review the facts on appeal herein and reverse the lower Court on the basis thereof.

The trial court found as a matter of fact that plaintiff "is not entitled to a divorce from defendant upon the grounds stated in her Complaint or otherwise." (Findings of Fact — P. 8.) In that regard, the grounds

for plaintiff's Complaint of divorce were acts of mental cruelty committed by defendant during the course of the marriage. Plaintiff testified at the trial, and her testimony was uncontroverted in this, that while she was living with defendant and on several occasions, some as late as October, 1962, defendant (1) told plaintiff to get a divorce but she would have to get a lawyer and pay for it (T-9) — (2) told plaintiff that he had known for a long time that the marriage wouldn't work, that he had wanted to get rid of her for a long time and that the only reason he stayed with her was because he felt he was obligated to her (T-9), and defendant testified that he does not recall but he may have told plaintiff this (T-95, 96) — (3) told plaintiff he didn't care where she went or what she did as long as she didn't take the little girl with her (T-10) and he didn't want plaintiff around (T-10) — (4) told plaintiff that he did not want the baby (T-10) and that plaintiff should see a psychiatrist (T-10). This conduct on the part of defendant during the course of the marriage and just prior to the separation of the parties so distressed the plaintiff and caused her such mental anguish that she cried on each occasion and she was unable to carry on her usual activities because of the way defendant's conduct made her feel (T-10). It was further testified by plaintiff that the difficulty between plaintiff and defendant first began approximately the time their child was born (T-22), and that it continued thereafter until the action was filed. Defendant asserts that after plaintiff left their home in Fillmore and when he took her to the home of her parents in Delta that he, defendant, asked Earl Sheehy, plaintiff's father,

for advice on the problem that had arisen in the marriage and Mr. Sheehy advised that the young couple get away from defendant's parents and make a life for themselves (T-87). Defendant, apparently thinking this was sound advice, said he had intended to do that but his wife left before he could take this action (T-87). Yet, knowing that Mr. Sheehy's advice was sound in suggesting that plaintiff and defendant get away from the latter's parents in order that their difficulties be solved and their marriage possibly salvaged thereby, defendant objected to plaintiff's wanting to "get away" for a while to go with her parents to Kansas on a vacation in an attempt to save the marriage (T-25, 27)

It was only after the divorce action had been initiated in this matter and after the relationship had deteriorated beyond recovery that defendant desired to see a marriage counselor with plaintiff (T-28).

While it is true that what constitutes cruelty causing mental distress depends upon the facts and circumstances of each particular case, *Stevenson v. Stevenson*, 12 U. 2d 153, 369 P. 2d 923 (1962), the Courts usually grant the wife a decree of divorce on the ground of cruelty on much less evidence than they do the husband, *Doe v. Doe*, 48 U. 200, 212, 158 P. 781, and in dealing with actual cases involving cruelty, the courts recognize that the nature and disposition of the plaintiff, as well as the conduct of the defendant, are important factors. *Button v. Button*, 95 Ore. 578, 188 P. 180. It takes a person of very little perception to realize that women, generally speaking,

are much more sensitive about matters of love, marriage, and things pertaining to the affections than are men. In the matter on appeal herein, plaintiff testified that the actions of her husband caused her mental anguish, that it was severe enough to cause her to shed tears and had such an effect on her physically that it interfered with her normal activity of being a wife and mother. Plaintiff asserts herein that unless the woman is callous, any wife and mother would have reacted as she did if told what defendant told plaintiff about his feeling for her and the marriage and that such actions are in fact cruel treatment causing great mental anguish and grief and that, as plaintiff testified in this matter, defendant's conduct did in fact cause her great mental suffering and emotional strain because she was interested in saving her marriage and holding the family unit intact.

The Court found from the testimony at the trial of this matter that the charges of cruel treatment causing mental distress and adultery by plaintiff were sustained by the evidence. However, plaintiff urges upon this Court that such a finding, especially as to adultery, is not justified from the evidence in this matter. It is true that evidence relating to adultery is nearly always circumstantial because the act is generally done in secret and is not susceptible to proof; but it is frequently said by the Courts that the circumstantial evidence must be of a clear and positive nature. *Marshall v. Marshall*, 3 F. 2d. 344, 55 App. D. C. 173; *Brown v. Brown*, 27 Idaho 205, 148 P. 45; *Diehl v. Diehl*, 87 Pa. Super. 545, and although a clear preponderance of the evidence is necessary to establish

the act, there is a presumption of innocence on the part of the alleged offender and if the party's conduct is open to an interpretation of either innocence or guilt, the presumption of innocence will prevail. *Ovenu v. Ovenu*, 201 Ill. App. 607; *Hutzler v. Hutzler*, 161 La. 823, 109 So. 504; *German v. German*, 137 Md. 424, 112 A. 789; *McCrary v. McCrary*, 230 S.W. 187 (Tex. Civ. App). To prove adultery circumstantially, as was done in the instant case, it is not enough to prove that there was an adulterous disposition or that there was an opportunity to commit adultery, but the concurrence of both disposition and opportunity must be shown. *Allen v. Allen*, 285 F. 962, 52 App. D. C. 228; *Grundy v. Grundy*, 92 N. J. Eq. 687, 114 A. 552; *Torrens v. Torrens*, 94 N. J. Eq. 480, 120 A. 189; *Jacobstein v. Jacobstein*, 209 App. Div. 846, 204 N.Y.S. 918, affirmed 240 N. Y. 693, 148 N.E. 761. See also *Cooley Cas. Persons and Domestic Relations* (2nd Ed.) 142.

The basis for the Court's finding of adultery on the part of plaintiff was the testimony of B. F. Romano of Paramount Detective Agency of Salt Lake City who was hired by defendant to conduct surveillance activities of plaintiff between December 27, 1962, until January 14, 1963. Mr. Romano, a private detective, testified that he and a companion observed plaintiff, Mr. Leo Brunson, and plaintiff's apartment continually from the dates indicated. The essence of his testimony is that every day with the exception of approximately two, plaintiff and the said Brunson left her apartment at about 6:30 o'clock a.m. and returned each evening or they would be back in the apartment each evening when the detectives re-

sumed their **surveillance** activities at about 6:00 o'clock p.m. (T-100-134). Mr. Romano asserted that he occupied an apartment in another building north of plaintiff's apartment but at about the same height. He asserted that he observed the activities of plaintiff and Mr. Brunson in the former's apartment with high-powered glasses and he could see clearly (T-102) and that he was well acquainted with the layout of the apartment. Yet, under cross-examination, the detective admitted the following things about the apartment, the activities of plaintiff and Mr. Brunson:

(1) That from his observation place he could not see the front door of the apartment house in which plaintiff lived nor could he see the door that entered into plaintiff's apartment (T-100, T-120);

(2) He could not see the front of the apartment house at 64 "F" Street (T-118, T-120);

(3) He did not know there was a back entrance and exit to the apartment of plaintiff (T-119) even though he claimed to have thoroughly acquainted himself with the apartment house at 64 "F" Street and with plaintiff's apartment;

(4) He did not know the layout of plaintiff's apartment even though he watched it continually for two weeks (T-122);

(5) That it would have been possible for someone to walk out of plaintiff's apartment and out the front door

of the apartment house without him or his companion having knowledge of it (T-113);

(6) He is not sure that no one entered or left the apartment — all he can say is he did not see anyone do so (T-123);

(7) There were two bedrooms in plaintiff's apartment because he could see lights on in both (T-122);

(8) He didn't know where the minor child of the parties slept (T-123);

(9) That it is possible that Mr. Brunson could have been in the apartment without him knowing it (T-131);

(10) That he knew where plaintiff's bedroom was situated when in fact he didn't know at all (T-104, T-165);

(11) That he doesn't know or have any idea how many times plaintiff left the apartment and entered the apartment with the minor child (T-133, 134) yet, this was one of the important aspects of his surveillance;

(12) Although he could see clearly into the apartment he could not tell whether Mr. Brunson was taking a bath or shower in the bathroom of plaintiff's apartment even though it is usual for one taking a shower to stand and for one taking a bath to sit (T-103);

(13) Nor could he tell the type or color of clothing worn by plaintiff (T-106, T-172);

(14) He indicates that plaintiff and Mr. Brunson were the sole occupants of the apartment between the dates of December 27, 1962 - January 14, 1963 (T-97-137), yet Mrs. Katherine Sheehy, mother of the plaintiff, was in Salt Lake City between those two dates and stayed overnight at plaintiff's apartment (T-187) and Detective Romano did not see her or was not aware of her presence in the apartment, and;

(15) He indicated that he had made a thorough examination of the back yard at 64 "F" Street and there was no way out in that direction (T-124), when in fact a back way out was in common use at the time by children in the neighborhood (T-124, 173).

It seems apparent that Mr. Romano actually knew very little about what the physical setup was of plaintiff's apartment, or what plaintiff's activities were. He knew just as little about the activities of plaintiff and Leo Brunson during the two-week period and yet this investigation and testimony was crucial in establishing by a clear preponderance of the evidence the act of adultery by plaintiff. The inconsistencies and lack of knowledge and understanding in the detective's testimony is apparent and this, coupled with the fact that the evidence of hired detectives will be subject to careful scrutiny by the Courts, since the detectives may be prejudiced in favor of proving what they are employed to prove, *Sargent v. Sargent*, 114 A. 428 (N. J. Ch.); *Fontana v. Fontana*, 182 App. Div. 717, 170 N.Y.S. 308; *Steele v. Steele*, 170 N.Y.S. 454; *Stewart v. Stewart*, 85 Pa. Super. 39; *Ovenu v. Ovenu*,

Supra; *German v. German*, Supra; *Diehl v. Diehl*, Supra, leaves one with no alternative but to cast serious doubt upon the reliability of the detective's testimony.

On the basis of the testimony and the evidence in the record, plaintiff urges that as far as the adultery finding is concerned, that the evidence is reasonably susceptible to interpretation as to her guilt or innocence in that there were two bedrooms in her apartment and it is reasonable to find that Mr. Brunson slept in a bedroom other than the one occupied by plaintiff; it is entirely reasonable to conclude that Mr. Brunson left the apartment unseen by Mr. Romano and his companion, and inasmuch as the detectives claimed they could see clearly into plaintiff's apartment yet they could not see clearly enough to ascertain whether Mr. Brunson was taking a shower or a bath, showing that their view into the apartment was anything but clear, and inasmuch as plaintiff's conduct is open either to an interpretation of guilt or innocence, the presumption of innocence prevails and the Court should order the striking of the finding of adultery and hence that of cruelty. It should be noted here that plaintiff has consistently denied that she and Mr. Brunson ever committed the act of adultery.

However, even if it is believed that plaintiff did in fact commit adultery, it should be noted by this Court that on the basis of the record such act would have occurred sometime between December 27, 1962, and January 14, 1963. Not that any such act is ever justified, but as far as this action is concerned and using such conduct of plaintiff by defendant as grounds for divorce as

causing him great emotional distress, anguish, and upset, it should be pointed out and considered by this Court that such action occurred at a time when the marriage had, for all intents and purposes, ended and the relationship between plaintiff and defendant was beyond saving several months before, and that the prior conduct of defendant toward plaintiff was undoubtedly a factor in bringing about plaintiff's later conduct. Certainly, defendant felt that the marriage was ended long before the decree of divorce was granted by Judge Day on April 19, 1963, because Mr. Dearden did not think it improper to date a young lady from Richfield at least 6 weeks before the trial of the divorce action.

It should also be pointed out with some emphasis and given due consideration by this Court that plaintiff had been encouraged by defendant and led by necessity to work in order to meet the family obligations and to acquire a home with the furniture, fixtures, and effects pertinent thereto; and that defendant, during the course of the marriage, drove a truck on the Fillmore-St. George and Fillmore-Salt Lake runs and by reason of their both working, the parties did not spend much time together nor did they see each other very often. None of these circumstances may be a justification for the conduct of either party, but they do point out possible and maybe probable reasons for the deterioration of this marriage starting with the birth of the child until its culmination with this divorce action.

Other than the adultery allegedly and supposedly committed during December and January, the only tes-

timony relating to misconduct during the time that the marriage was supposed to be valid and effective was that of Kenneth William Brunson (T-143-149), wherein he claimed to have discovered plaintiff and Leo Brunson in the basement of the Cafe Ilene during the deer hunt which would have been in October or November of 1962. However, the evidence was uncontroverted that Mrs. Dearden was not employed there at that time and hadn't been for some six weeks to two months prior to that time. The occasion related by the witness seems either to have been a figment of his own imagination or that of someone else's imagination which he brought into court and related by rote to assist the defendant in this matter. A reading of that portion of the transcript relating to this witness's testimony reveals that he did not know what he was talking about and that the obtaining of such a witness to testify on behalf of the defendant for the sole purpose of injuring the plaintiff should cast some serious doubts on every aspect of the defendant's case.

On the basis of the record and transcript in this matter, the argument set forth in this Brief, the cases cited therein, and upon the equities in this matter, plaintiff prays that the decree of the trial court be reversed and that it be ordered that plaintiff be granted a decree of divorce in her favor and against defendant as per her Complaint heretofore filed in the District Court.

POINT II.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ITS FAILURE TO GRANT PLAINTIFF THE CUSTODY

**OF THE MINOR CHILD OF THE PARTIES
SUBJECT TO DEFENDANT'S RIGHT OF
REASONABLE VISITATION.**

Plaintiff incorporates into Point II the facts, law, and argument set forth in Point I herein, and especially the portion relating to the Court's finding of adultery.

The Trial Court's finding in relation to the custody of the minor child is as follows: "11a. That plaintiff is and has been a neat and orderly housekeeper and there is no evidence that she has directly or intentionally mistreated the child. That on the other hand her actions and treatment of the child have not been for its best interests or welfare."

The finding under paragraph 15 was that defendant was a fit and proper person to have custody of the child and that plaintiff was not and that the best interests of the child required that she be given to defendant in order that his parents could keep her.

It is significant to review the uncontroverted evidence in the transcript relating to plaintiff's care and treatment of the child, her love for it and the child's love for her mother and the environment of the child in the apartment of the plaintiff. The testimony shows that during the course of the marriage, defendant chided plaintiff for the way she cared for the child because he thought his wife spent too much money on keeping the little girl clothed. Defendant's mother testified that she was sure the little girl loved her mother and that plaintiff loved the child and that the last information she had plaintiff

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