1963

# Katherine Irene Dearden v. Albert Errol Dearden : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF A DECREE OF DIVORCE AGAINST DEFENDANT AND IN GRANTING DEFENDANT A DECREE OF DIVORCE AGAINST PLAINTIFF

A reading of the evidence of the plaintiff when she testified to her grounds of divorce will without doubt convince this Court that plaintiff had no substantial cause for complaint against the defendant; and a reading of the entire record will disclose without doubt that plaintiff left defendant because of her attachment to and desire to live with one Leo Brunson, a married man who had left his wife and three children to live with her.

The sole complaint upon which plaintiff relies as to her grounds for a divorce from defendant are as follows:

That her husband told her she might as well get a divorce but that he would not pay for it (Tr. 9); that if she wanted a divorce to get one because he felt for a

long time that the marriage wouldn't work (Tr. 9); that he did not care where she went or what she did as long as she did not take the child (Tr. 10); that there had been *rumors* that he had a girl friend in Nephi and St. George (Tr. 10); that he wanted her to see a psychiatrist (Tr. 10); and that these things made her feel terrible, whereupon she went over to Delta and her dad helped her come to Salt Lake, where she filed the suit for divorce (Tr. 10).

Upon cross-examination Mrs. Dearden stated that trouble commenced between them because "she was supposed to have been seeing Leo Brunson" (Tr. 23); that there were rumors about such conduct but that her husband told her he did not believe the rumors (Tr. 24); that she never did find out whether there was any basis for the rumors that her husband was seeing some girls, and at the time of the trial she did not know whether there was any truth in such rumors (Tr. 25).

Rarely, indeed, has a plaintiff, in a contested divorce action, presented a case so devoid of any substantial grounds for divorce, and many trial judges would refuse a divorce upon the proof submitted even if uncontested.

As a matter of fact the defendant Dearden has denied practically every one of the few incidents relied upon by plaintiff as her grounds for divorce (Tr. 47 to 96), and the trial court chose to believe those denials.

It is elementary that the Supreme Court will not disturb the trial court's findings unless they are clearly not sustained by the evidence; and it is also elementary that the Supreme Court is in no position to and will not evaluate the credibility of witnesses as against the trial court's express findings.

In the very late case of *Tsoufakis vs. Tsoufakis*, — *Utah* —, 382 P2d 412, Mr. Justice Wade stated the rule that the Supreme Court will not disturb a trial court's judgment unless it appears to be unjust and inequitable to the point that there is an abuse of discretion. Moreover, the universal rule is as stated by Mr. Justice Wade in this case, "the trial court had the opportunity this Court does not have of seeing and hearing both parties and is therefore in a better position to determine controverted facts."

It is also elementary and fundamental that a reviewing court upon appeal must review the facts in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed below. (*Ortega vs. Thomas*, — *Utah* —, 383 P2d 406).

As respondent reads the appellant's brief the plaintiff does not seriously urge upon this Court that the findings of the trial court, excepting as to the charge of adultery, are not supported by the evidence. The appellant has not assigned as error the insufficiency of the evidence to support the findings.

Plaintiff's serious complaint is that the finding against her as to adultery is not justified from the evidence in this matter. It is then stated in her brief (page 8) "the basis for the court's finding of adultery on the part of the plaintiff was the testimony of B. F. Romano of Paramount Detective Agency of Salt Lake City." The trial court no doubt based the finding of adultery, not only on the evidence of Mr. Romano, but also on the evidence of Mr. Smith, a detective who worked with and assisted Mr. Romano in their investigative work. It was stipulated that Mr. Smith, if on the stand and testifying would testify to the same facts as testified to by Mr. Romano, both as to direct and cross-examination (Tr. 135).

The trial court was no doubt impressed with and believed the testimony of one Kenneth William Brunson. Brunson testified that while he was working in the cafe where the plaintiff and Leo Brunson worked, and in the basement of the cafe, he saw plaintiff and Leo Brunson in a most compromising position with their undergarments in a state of disarray; and that half an hour thereafter Leo Brunson stated to him "if you say one word of this, 'I will kill you' or 'you will get it'." (Tr. 143 to 146). The witness was confused as to the date of this episode but it happened prior to the time of the separation of plaintiff and defendant.

The trial court also was no doubt impressed with and believed the testimony of one Vance Ray Keel, a police officer for the City of Fillmore, and who testified substantially as follows: That in the early part of July, 1962, at about 3 o'clock a. m., he followed Leo Brunson; that Brunson went up to the Dearden residence, went to the door, then left and went around behind the house; that sometime later Brunson entered the home; that the door was opened to admit him and that Brunson remained in the home at least twenty minutes during which time the officer remained in the vicinity of the home; that Brunson had parked his car at a service station in the vicinity; that after going up to the door Brunson went away and came back in about fifteen minutes or about 3:30 a. m., that defendant Dearden was in the house the first time Brunson came there but left shortly thereafter; that a few minutes after Dearden left the house the lights came on in the house and Brunson then entered (Tr. 136 to 143). It should be remembered that Dearden was employed as a truck driver and his hours of employment made it necessary for him to work nights as well as in the daytime.

After Mrs. Dearden was confronted with the testimony of Officer Keele, and on rebuttal, she attempted to explain why Brunson was there. Her explanation was that "she was tending the Leo Brunson's baby, and Leo came in and said his wife was up trying to take the baby

—that she did not know Mrs. Dearden had the baby and not for Mrs. Dearden to let Mrs. Brunson have the baby but to take her (the baby) down to his (Brunson's) folks the next morning."

It will be observed that (from Mrs. Dearden's story) Brunson came to tell Mrs. Dearden about the baby at three o'clock a. m., but before coming to the house to have this discussion he left his truck at a service station several blocks or at least some distance away. It is difficult to imagine a more stupid and fishy explanation, and it is quite obvious the trial court did not believe any part of it. No doubt the trial court could not imagine why Brunson parked his car a distance from the Dearden home before going to the place; why did he go to the door and then around the back until Dearden left the house; why was it necessary for Brunson to be in the house after Dearden had left and at about 3:30 o'clock a. m., and why did the lights come on in the house after Dearden had left and apparently the door was open for him without his knocking.

Much is made by appellant concerning discrepancies in the testimony of the witness Romano (corroborated by Smith). It is well at this point to observe no attempt was made to attack the character or reputation of the two detectives, or their motives, nor has any part or portion of the testimony of these detectives been impeached or their credibility assailed.

In a matter of this kind and considering the length of the report of Mr. Romano, it is very easy to pick out a few of his answers on cross-examination and consider them out of context. Even a casual reading of his testimony, and the thoroughness thereof, will convince the reader that about every night for at least three weeks Leo Brunson stayed in the apartment of Mrs. Dearden all night; and taking into consideration the entire record, it would tax the credulity of any person to believe that Brunson occupied one room each and every night while Mrs. Dearden occupied the other.

The record shows that Leo Brunson was a married man and left three children of his own when he left Fillmore to go to Salt Lake City where Mrs. Dearden had then gone (Tr. 78). Brunson worked as a cook at the cafe in Fillmore where Mrs. Dearden also worked, and he followed her to Salt Lake about one month after she moved there (Tr. 78).

Respondent is in agreement with the general rule that circumstantial evidence of adultery must be of a clear and convincing nature, and that one alleging adultery has the burden of proof. However, as stated by the appellant in her brief "it is true that evidence relating to adultery is nearly always circumstantial because the act is generally done in secret and is not susceptible to proof." It is rare, indeed, when an actual act of sexual intercourse is witnessed.

The case of *Revier vs. Revier*, 48 Wash. 2d 213, 292 P2d 861, is a case somewhat in point. The court in that case, commenting upon circumstantial evidence concerning adultery states:

The evidence tending to show adultery was circumstantial. Where this is the case the evidence must show: (1) an adulterous disposition on the part of the defendant and the alleged paramour; (2) an opportunity to commit the act; and (3) circumstances tending to show guilt (citing *Barrinuevo vs. Barrinuevo*, 287 P2d 349). Here the evidence consisted, in the main, of testimony to the effect that appellant frequently and alone entertained, in her darkened home until the early hours of the morning, a man whom she had caressed and with whom she had imbibed in public. In our view, such evidence satisfies the test for a circumstantial civil case of adultery.

In the case of *Barrinuevo vs. Barrinuevo*, 47 Wash. 2d 296, 287 P2d 349, the court states:

Adultery is seldom susceptible of proof except by circumstantial evidence. The quantum of proof required in civil cases is that it must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. The court must take such evidence, as the nature of the case permits, bring to bear upon it the experience and observations of life, weigh it with prudence and care and give effect to its just preponderance. \* \* \* The disposition of this case is governed by the rule announced in many of our former decision, that the trial judge, having witnesses before him and an opportunity to observe their demeanor, display of candor and sincerity upon

the witness stand is in a better position to determine the truth of the issues than are we who read only the written record. We will not disturb his findings unless there is no evidence to support them or unless we can say that the evidence preponderates against them.

In the instant case it cannot be said there is no evidence to sustain a finding of adultery, nor can it be said that the evidence preponderates against such a finding.

In the case of *Paulson vs. Paulson*, 37 Wash. 2nd 555, 225 P2d 206, the court states:

Appellant urges that she should have been granted a divorce. The short answer is that the trial court did not have to believe her testimony. As we have said in *Braun vs. Braun*, 31 Wash 2d, 468, 197 P2d 442 \* \* \* confronted with a situation where there are only two witnesses, one of whom asserts and the other denies, a trial judge, if undecided whom to believe, may find that the acts complained of have not been established by a preponderance of the evidence; or, believing one and of necessity disbelieving the other, he may find that the things complained of did or did not happen.

## POINT II

### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS FAILURE TO GRANT PLAINTIFF THE CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILD OF THE PARTIES

The trial court, after a careful consideration of the entire record, and an evaluation of the plaintiff's con-

duct and lack of moral stature, made its findings and conclusions in effect that the plaintiff was not a fit and proper person to have custody of the minor child of the parties, that the defendant was a fit and proper person and that the best interests of the child required that the child's custody be awarded to defendant.

Plaintiff asserts in her brief that "the only reason for her unfitness would have to be the alleged adultery." What the plaintiff overlooks or chooses to ignore are the circumstances surrounding the numerous acts of adultery, and her conduct both before and after the separation of the parties.

This is not a case of a mother having committed one act of adultery. It is not a case of an act committed long *after* a separation. It is not a case of showing good conduct after the act or acts and a change of different and better circumstances of living. It is not a case of candor with the court and a showing of repentance and desire to live a clean and decent life. It is not a case of having committed the act with some single young man of her own age and in circumstances that might by some stretch of the imagination be considered excusable. This is a case of misconduct and lack of any moral standards, as testified to by Officer Keele when she entertained Brunson in her home at about 3:30 o'clock in the morning immediately after her husband left for work. This is a case of adultery committed in the basement of the

cafe during working hours, while still living with her husband and before the separation. This is a case of living in open adultery with a married man who had deserted his wife and three children, and over a period of at least the three weeks testified to by Romano and Smith. Since both Brunson and his family and the Deardens were living in Fillmore long prior to Brunson and Mrs. Dearden going to Salt Lake City, the Court can conclude that Mrs. Dearden was well aware of the fact her associations with, and her adulterous conduct were with full knowledge that her paramour was a married man who had deserted his family to be with her. This is a case also where the plaintiff is also guilty of perjury when she denied any acts of adultery or misconduct; and when she denied under oath that she had seen Brunson for three weeks or a month prior to the trial on April 10th, 1963 (Tr. 45), when as a matter of fact she was seen riding with Brunson in his car on March 31st. Romano testified that he and Mr. Smith were going down Main Street in Salt Lake City on March 31st and had tagged Brunson and Mrs. Dearden for a block and she was sitting right next to him (Tr. 116-117). This is corroborated by Mr. Smith, since the parties stipulated that Mr. Smith would testify substantially as did Mr. Romano (Tr. 136).

Moreover, the record discloses that the child was taken from her apartment to the home of baby sitters

daily (Tr. 37); that the child was taken from the home in the early hours of the morning (Tr. 38) to be taken to baby sitters; and that if she (the plaintiff) found it necessary to work for the next five or ten years she intended to have baby sitters look after the girl for that period of time (Tr. 183).

Counsel for defendant have read and considered practically every case to be found at least in the Pacific Reporter touching on the question of custody of minor children where the mother has been charged with and/or found guilty of adultery, and we can say with certainty there is no case to be found wherein the mother has been found to be a fit and proper person and awarded the custody of minor children under circumstances such as encountered in the instant case.

It may be said at the outset that defendant has no quarrel with the legal principles as follows:

That generally adultery will not *necessarily* deprive spouse of care and custody of children; that in arriving at a determination as to what is best for the welfare and happiness of the child, the court will consider the ties of nature and association; that the question of custody is one addressed to the sound discretion of the court; that there is no absolute rule by which it can be determined which of two contesting parties is entitled to custody; that in determining the question of custody, the child's best interests has reference more particularly

to the moral welfare than to mere comforts, benefits, etc., and lastly, that each case must be decided upon its own factual situation.

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